AUG 17 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MANUEL COLINA,

Appellant,

Vs.

Case #: 79-479

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN R. MONAHAN Fla. Bar #348546 613 St. Johns Ave. Palatka, Florida 32177 (904)325-8673

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The introduction of the testimony of Felix Castro given at the former trial of the defendant after the court found him to be unavailable denied the Appellant his constitutional right of confrontation. Although, it is not argued that ¶90.804 which allows the use of such testimony is a valid exception to the hearsay rule, its application can, under certain circumstances, be of such a nature and quality as to defeat the more fundamental right of confrontation. In this case the witness, Felix Castro, had so often given conflicting, implausible and self-serving accounts of the events at issue in the trial as to make his former testimony inately unreliable, and therefore demanded the right of confrontation.

POINT II: The unavailability of Felix Castro, who had never before asserted a Fifth Amendment privilege, was the result of the prosecution's efforts to obtain counsel for him immediately before the rehearing with the expectation that such counsel would inform Castro of his right to refuse to testify and advise him to exercise same. These steps taken by the State were a deliberate strategy to enable the State to utilize Castro's former testimony rather than put him on the stand subject to cross examination and violated ¶90.804's requirement of good faith.

POINT III: The court's finding with respect to each count

that the murders were especially heinous atrocious and cruel was inappropriate to this aggravating factor or was unsupported by the record, which furnished no evidence of conscious suffering or anxiety on the part of the victims. It also failed to show any evidence of pleasure or deliberate infliction of pain by the defendant. The use of a tire iron and the events which occurred after death produced graphic results but the record is lacking in any evidence of suffering by the Diazes.

POINT IV: The prosecution summoned to the witness stand the two children of the victims for the purpose of presenting victim impact evidence. Their testimony did not relate to any statutory aggravating factors. Although the Constitutional ban on such evidence has been lifted, the Florida sentencing scheme has not been amended to allow such evidence.

POINT V: The evidence showed that the prime movant and beneficiary of these murders was the co-defendant Felix Castro who, because of a deal with the state, received a life sentence while Colina has been sentenced to death. Florida law recognizes a non-statutory mitigating factor for disparate treatment of equally culpable co-defendants which should have been found.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MANUEL A. COLINA,)		
Appellant,)		
VS.)	Case #	79,479
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.	,)		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged via a two count Indictment with the First Degree Murder of Cecilia and Angel Diaz. The cause proceeded to trial on June 22, 1987. The Defendant was found guilty on both counts as charged. The jury entered a unanimous recommendation of death.

The Defendant was sentenced to death on August 18, 1987.

Appeal was taken to this Court. On November 15, 1990, this

Court affirmed the findings of guilt but struck the death penalty
and remanded to the Circuit Court of Putnam County for rehearing
on the penalty phase. Colina v. State, 570 So. 2d 929 (Fla.

1990).

The case proceeded to Pre Trial on February 28, 1991. (R12)
The court denied the State's motion for appointment of an expert
in the field of psychology (R 166) and further denied the State's
Motion to Continue (R 169-170). The case was set for rehearing
on March 25, 1991, but was continued when insufficient jurors

were assembled. (R 179). The case was a again set for hearing on July 15, 1991 (R 182). The State moved to continue and said motion was granted by the court with rehearing scheduled for December 9, 1991(R 181-182).

The State requested that judicial notice be taken of the death of the medical examiner in the case Dr. Robert McGonaghie. (R 194). The State also filed a motion to declare the co-defendant Felix Castro unavailable to testify based on a motion for post conviction relief filed by Felix Castro (R 214). The prosecution also moved that Castro be appointed an attorney (R 214).

Rehearing began on December 9, 1991 before Judge
Uriel Blount. Jury selection proceeded and a jury was impaneled
on December 10th. The State called their first witness, the
co-defendant Felix Castro (R 257).

Castro was represented at the hearing by John Sproul who was appointed that day to represent him (R 258) at the request of the prosecuting attorney (R 214). The witness refused to testify on fifth amendment grounds and on the advice of his attorney. (R 257-263). The State moved to declare the witness unavailable and the defense moved for a mistrial (R 265).

The court granted the defense motion and declared a mistrial (R 268).

The State filed a motion to reconsider the earlier ruling on non-availability (R 272). The matter was heard by Judge Blount who deferred ruling to Judge Graziano (R 312).

The rehearing was reconvened on January 27, 1992, this time before Judge Gayle Graziano. Hearing was held on the Defendant's motion in limine on the admission of collateral crimes and was granted (R 832). A motion in limine regarding the admission of certain photos (R 191) was heard and ruling reserved (R 839). Motions in limine with regard to similar fact evidence and the meaning of certain tattos (R 199) became moot when the State announced that neither matter would be raised.

Trial began. Castro again refused to testify and was declared unavailable by the court, allowing his testimony from the last trial to be read into the record. (R 1028). His testimony from the original trial was read into the record by Detective Chris Hord, the arresting officer (R 1140-1234). Castro was found in contempt of Court on January 29, 1992.

On January 29, 1992 the jury returned a recommendation that the court impose the death penalty by a vote of 7 to 5. (R 565). On February 7, 1992, Judge Graziano denied a motion for rehearing (R 618) and imposed a death sentence on each count (R 649). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early evening hours of December 18, 1986, Manuel Colina and Felix Castro went to the home of Angel and Cecilia Diaz in a rural part of Putnam County. The result of their visit was the death of Mr. and Mrs. Diaz by blunt trauma inflicted by repeated blows to the head.

In early January of 1987, officers responded to the Diaz home and began a search of the area under the direction of Roger Sassaman of the Putnam County Sheriff's Office. Two bodies were found and the matter was turned over to the homicide division for investigation (R 857-862).

The crime scene was examined, photographed and otherwise processed by members of the Sheriff's Office and members of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (R 864-912).

A post mortem examination by Dr. McGonaghie revealed that the couple had been dead over a week and up to three to four weeks and showed substantial signs of decay (R 950). The head of Mrs. Diaz was absent (R 951) as a result of insect and animal activity (R 958). A bruise was found on the left shoulder and left upper chest inflicted at or just before the time of death (R 952). No skeletal injuries were found (R 953). The body had been tied at the hands and feet after death had occurred (R 953). No lividity was found and no blood was present (R 954). A rapid loss of blood from above the neck had occurred (R 955). There was no evidence of forcible blows to the body (R 956).

The examination of Mr. Diaz disclosed that the head and neck were absent (R 959) as a result of insect and animal activity (R 958). The body was tied at the wrists and ankles and such tying occurred after death (R959-960). There was no lividity (R 960). Death was the result of trauma to the head caused by two or more blows (R 962). There were no signs of injuries below the neck (R 965). One major fracture to the back of the skull could have been the fatal blow (R 971-972).

Dr. William Ross Maples, a forensic anthropologist, testified that he could identify the weapon that struck one of the blows to Mrs. Diaz (R 987). He identified a metal rod introduced by the State as the weapon (R 988). He testified that five or six blows appeared to have been struck to the head of Mrs. Diaz (R 988) and probably multiple blows were delivered to the head of Mr. Diaz (R 989).

Felix Castro refused to testify on Fifth Amendment grounds (R 1015). His counsel indicated he had so advised his client (R 1021). His testimony was read into the record from the previous trial held in 1987.

Castro testified that he was a friend of Manuel Colina and that he had known him about three months (R 1145). On December 18, 1986 the two had met in the morning (R 1153). Colina indicated that some people he worked for owed him money and he wanted to go there and then leave town (R 1159). The two went to the home of Albert Spells and asked for a ride to the West River Road area. Spells agreed to give them a ride

but first he had to do some work laying sod at a Taco Bell restaurant under construction. After that work was finished, he drove Colina and Castro to a dirt road near the Diaz home (R 1164-1162).

The two men walked a short distance to the Diaz home where Colina instructed Castro to stay out of sight. Colina went to the door and contacted Mr. Diaz and asked him for a jack to change a tire on a car that was nearby. Mr. Diaz called for a jack and came outside where he observed Castro standing nearby. Colina went inside the trailer while Castro stayed outside with Mr. Diaz. A short time later Colina jumped out of the trailer and told Castro to "do something." Castro then struck Mr. Diaz with a wooden club he was holding. Colina then struck him again with a metal crowbar or tire iron. (R 1173-1189).

The two then carried the body of Mr. Diaz to a clearing in the woods behind the trailer where Mrs. Diaz's body was already laying. Castro testified that she was already dead but later indicated that he may have heard a moan. Mr. Diaz's pants slipped off while Castro was carrying his legs. Colina told Castro to get something to tie them up with. Several lengths of clothesline were cut and the Defendant began using it to bind the bodies. Castro testified that Colina struck several more blows to the heads of the victims as they lay there (R 1189-1203).

The two men then cleaned the blood out of the trailer and

searched for valuables, taking a small amount of cash, some alcohol, jewelry and other items from Mr. Diaz's wallet. They then took the Diaz car and returned to Palatka where they bought some beer (R 1204-1211).

Colina asked Castro if he had touched anything and Castro indicated he had touched the TV so Colina told him to go get it. Colina wouldn't go with him but he told Castro to find a girl (R 1218). Castro and a girl named Linda returned to the Diaz house and Castro took the TV and sold it on the street for cocaine (R 1219).

The following day, Castro and Colina met again. They left the Putnam County area and drove to Houston, Texas in the Diaz car. They stopped at a mission in Mobile, Alabama where they also obtained some additional clothing. After they arrived in Houston, the car was sold and the two men went their separate ways (R 1224-1232). Castro was arrested January 13, 1987 (R 1233).

Colina did not testify but the State introduced his prior accounts of the murders. Colina initially denied his identity but later acknowledged that he was Manuel Colina and that he had gone to the Diaz house on the night of the murders. He related that he stood away from the house not knowing what Castro's intentions were. He fled when he saw Castro attack Mr. Diaz from behind. Castro then picked him up in the Diaz car and the two returned to the Diaz house where Colina and Castro searched for valuables (R 1065-1069).

Russell McClintock testified that he and Colina had a fight in the jail and Colina indicated that he had already killed two people and one more didn't make any difference (R 1110).

Another inmate, Terry Ivey, testified that Colina indicated he had done it, Colina, he said, gave few details but indicated he was by himself (R1308-1313).

Over defense objection, Jackie Vickers was allowed to testify that he heard the statement made to McClintock (R 1324).

The defense called Jordan Vann, Jr. to the stand who indicated that he recalled when Colina was working for the Diazes on Shaggy Lane. On one occasion Castro and Colina borrowed some items for use in the work (R 1286-1287).

Juan Colon testified that the two had come to his shop on the day of the murders seeking a ride to the area of the Diaz home. He indicated that Colina was very nervous and that Castro made repeated requests for a ride which was denied. he had known both men for some time. Castro he said was a tough bullying type while Colina was quiet (R 1344-1346).

Raymond and Albert Spells testified that it was Castro who solicited the ride to West River Road and gave directions to the residence (R 1348-1356)

Linda McCaskill testified that she met Castro the night of the murders. She never met Colina. The two went drinking together for several hours with Castro buying the drinks. They rode out to the Diaz home in the Diaz car. Castro went inside and returned with the TV set. He indicated it was his

and he was going to sell it. The set was sold and the two went to Vic's (a local bar) and drank some more and smoked cocaine. Castro never seemed nervous during this time (R 1360-1365).

Castro's girlfriend and the mother of his child testified that they had met the Diazes when she was pregnant (R 1369). She also related that Castro referred to them as Mama and Papa (R 1377). It was indicated that the information that the Diazes had \$3,000 in their trailer (R 1208) came from Donato Jiminez (R 1370).

POINT I

THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT UNDER THE SIXTH
AMENDMENT AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION
TO CONFRONT THE PRINCIPLE STATE WITNESS
AGAINST HIM WAS VIOLATED BY ALLOWING THE
STATE TO INTRODUCE HIS TESTIMONY FROM THE
ORIGINAL TRIAL PROCEEDING

The Appellant first stood trial on the charges for which he now stands convicted and under a sentence of death in July 1987. The principle witness against him at that time was the co-defendant Felix Castro. Castro had entered into an agreement with the State that, in return for his testimony against Manuel Colina, the State would not seek the death penalty and would not recommend consecutive sentences as to the twenty-five year minimum mandatory sentence (R 535).

Castro testified at the trial and was cross-examined by Castro's attorney, Mr. William Butler. He was also subjected to redirect and recross (R 1196-1320). When called to testify in the resentencing hearing by the State, Mr. Castro refused to testify on Fifth Amendment grounds. He was, accordingly, found to be unavailable for trial by Judge Graziano and the State was allowed to introduce his testimony from the first trial over defense objection (R 1028-1029).

The court relied upon ¶90.804, Forida Statutes which provides in relevant part:

- 90.804 Hearsay exceptions; declarant unavailable.
- (1) "Unavailability as a witness" means that the declarant:
- (a) Is exempted by a ruling of the court on the ground

of privilege from testifying concerning the subject matter of his statement;

(b) Persists in refusing to testify concerning the subject matter of his statement despite and order of the court to do so;

. . .

- (2) HEARSAY EXCEPTIONS. The following are not excluded under s. 90.802, provided that the declarant is unavailable as a witness:
- (a) Former testimony.— Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and a similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part that:

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to be confronted with the witnesses against him... and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense."

U.S.C.A. Const.Amend 6.

The Sixth Amendment has been made applicable to the States by the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of due process of law, Pointer v. State of Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065 (1965).

In addition, the Florida Constitution, ARTICLE I, SECTION 16. Rights of accused and victims. - provides:

(a) In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall upon demand, be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation against him, and shall be FURNISHED a copy of the charges, and shall have the right to have compulsory process for witnesses, to confront at trial adverse witnesses, to be heard in person, by counsel or both, and to have a speedy and public trial by impartial jury in the county where the crime was committed. (emphasis added) In Engle v. State, 438 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983) this court

said:

The requirements of due process of law apply to all three phases of a capital case in the trial court: 1) The trial in which the guilt or innocence of the defendant is determined; 2) the penalty phase before the jury; and 3) the final sentencing process by the judge.

438 So.2d at 813.

The confrontation clause has, accordingly been applied to the sentencing process, <u>Spect v. Patterson</u>, 386 U.S. 605, 87 S.Ct. 1209, 18 L.Ed.2d 326 (1967); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1986).

The objects and purposes of cross-examination are numerous. Although the primary objective is to secure the right of cross-examination, Mattox v. United State, 156 U.S. 237, 15 S.Ct. 337, 39 L.Ed. 409 (1895), other ends are served by this right as well. Confrontation compels the witness "to stand face to face with the jury in order that they may look at him, and judge by his demeanor upon the stand and the manner in which he gives his testimony whether he is worthy of belief," Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 721; 88 S.Ct. 1318, 1320 (1968) (Citing Mattox v. United States, supra)

It has also been recognized that the exposure of a witness' motivation in testifying is a proper and important function of confrontation, <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdale</u>, 475 U.S. 673, 89 L.Ed.2d 674, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986). Victims may recant their former testimony, <u>Gregory v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 73 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). A witness may testify quite differently and less convincingly when he has to look at and face the man he is accusing, <u>Coy v. Iowa</u>, 487 U.S. 1012, 108 S.Ct. 2798, 101 L.Ed.2d 857 (1988).

In <u>Pointer v. State of Texas</u>, holding that the right of confrontation is fundamental, the Supreme Court stated:

[N]o one, certainly no one experienced in the trial of lawsuits, would deny the value of cross-examination in exposing falsehood and bringing out the truth in the trial of a criminal case...The decisions of this Court and other courts throughout the years have constantly emphasized the necessity for cross-examination as a protection for defendants in criminal cases...There are few subjects, perhaps, upon which this Court and other courts have been more unanimous than in their expressions of belief that the right of confrontation and cross-examination is an essential and fundamental requirement for the kind of fair trial which is this country's constitutional goal.

380 U.S. at 404-404, 85 S.Ct. at 1068.

The reasoning for admission relied on by the State to satisfy confrontation is that if a witness is unavailable his testimony from a prior trial "is admissible if it bears adequate 'indicia of reliability.' Reliability may be inferred without more in a case where the evidence falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception." Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 at 66, 100 S.Ct. 2531 at 2539. It is an established rule that prior testimony becomes admissible upon retrial without violating

confrontation requirements, where a witness becomes unavailable, Mancusi v. Stubbs, 408 U.S. 204, 92 S.Ct. 2308, 33 L.Ed.2d 293 (1972). The opportunity for effective cross-examination at the prior trial furnishes the "indicia of reliability" and satisfies the confrontation requirement.

The Appellant does not challenge the constitutionality of the hearsay exception contained in ¶90.804(b), Florida

Statutes nor does he question its validity. It is recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation is riddled with exceptions, Ohio v. Roberts, supra. These exceptions are commonly set out in the evidence codes of the various jurisdictions in those provisions dealing with hearsay. But although the hearsay rule and confrontation clause serve the the same values they are not coextensive, California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 90 S.Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970); Dutton v. Evans, 400 U.S. 74, 91 S.Ct. 210, 27 L.Ed.2d 213 (1970).

In <u>United States v. Menichino</u>, 497 F.2d 935 (5th Cir. 1974) the court noted that:

[E]ven statements properly admitted under hearsay rules may be examined by the court to assure that the trier of fact has a satisfactory basis for evaluating the truth of the prior statement...[A] case by case analysis is necessary to determine whether under the circumstances, the unavailability of the declarant for cross-examination deprived the jury of a satisfactory basis for evaluating the truth of the extrajudicial declaration.

407 F.2d at 943. (citing <u>United States v. Adams</u>, 446 F.2d 681 (9th Cir. 1971).

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