IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 30 1992

SID J. WHITE

H,

CLERK, SHPREME COURT. By-Chief Deputy Clerk

MANUEL COLINA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,479

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

³ Dr. Maples testified that "normally" they would put their hands up," although he did not know how effectively elderly people could have intercepted blows from a weapon that moves quite fast and is directed (R 992). He opined that the probability was greater that there was some injury to the arm. The most likely event was that the arm had some sort of hemorrhaging trauma.

the ground or laying down when the blows were struck (R 1004). Cecilia was the first victim to be assaulted. Since her husband was right outside the trailer it is probable that Colina just incapacitated her in the trailer and did his real handiwork out of earshot and sight in the clearing behind the trailer. This would be consistent with fact that the blows were struck while the victim was lying down. Blows to the facial area are not normally lethal (R 1006). Thus, it is apparent that at least two of the blows did not kill her and at least three or four more blows were needed to effect her death. That the beginning blows were not fatal is obvious because Colina acknowledged that he had not killed her in the kitchen. The injury on the right forearm would indicate that she had given Colina a hard time, as he stated to Castro. She was hardly dispatched in one fell swoop Colina would have this court believe. Under assuch circumstances there is no way she could not have gleaned beforehand her ultimate fate.

Castro testified in 1987 that after they had carried Angel to the spot behind the trailer where Cecilia had already been placed he was instructed by Colina to get something to tie them up and handed a knife to cut some line off the clothes line (R 1196-1198). Castro cut some line. He then testified that "one of them started getting up" and he saw Colina swinging the thing again. Colina said he had to knock them out again⁴ (R 1199).

⁴ The original trial testimony indicates that Castro couldn't be sure if it was Angel or Cecilia who was getting up because he had his back to them but he saw Colina swinging the tire iron. Colina said he had to knock "them" out again (R 1199). In his later deposition Castro said he told the truth when he took the stand (R 150).

Castro testified that when he came back with the rope the "old lady" started to wake up and was moaning.⁵ Colina hit her on the back of the head with the tire iron and said, in the words of Castro, "he should have killed this bitch while he was in the kitchen, because the old lady gave him a hard time." (R 1200). As Castro walked to the front of the yard to watch for any cars he could hear Colina swinging the tire iron but didn't see what he was hitting (R 1203). Chief Homicide Investigator Lieutenant William Hord of the Putnam County Sheriff's Office assisted in the publication of the prior testimony of Felix Castro (R 1140). On cross-examination defense counsel elicited testimony that in his February 26, 1991 deposition Castro stated that Cecilia never said anything or mumbled and he never saw Colina hit her⁶ (R 1270-1271).

Contrary to the appellant's assertion, Castro was not at all "certain" in 1991 that he had heard nothing from Cecilia and never saw her struck. In fact, Colina admitted that he had forgotten a lot of things in four years and was foggy on some of

 $^{^{5}}$ The original trial testimony indicates that she was not getting up off the ground but was making noise, like moaning, going "oh." (R 1245).

^o The February 26, 1991 deposition reflects Castro as saying he could not tell if she was alive as he never touched her. She never said anything or mumbled or anything else like that. She didn't move (R 100). As he was going toward the road he heard Colina hitting them a couple of times (R 98-99). On cross-examination he stated that he never saw or heard Cecilia get hit. He did recall Colina saying something like he should have killed the bitch (R 155-156). As he was leaving he heard him hitting them again (R 157). Castro was foggy on some of the details of what happened (R 158).

the details of what happened 7 (R 158). His deposition statement is not irreconcilable with his trial testimony as there is a difference between speaking, mumbling and just moaning. Castro did not retract but distinctly remembered his statement about killing the bitch and recalled in deposition Colina saying something like "he should have killed the bitch." (R 155-156). Even if he did not recall in deposition witnessing Colina hit her in the back of the head with a tire iron he did hear Colina hitting them a couple of times (R 98-99). Obviously Cecilia was alive at that point in time for Colina to have commented that he "should" have killed the bitch. Castro even stated in his deposition that he didn't see any blood on her at that point in time (R 90). Thus, the judge was correct in concluding that at that point in time Colina continued his torturous bashing, until her skull was in pieces, to assure her death, irrespective of whether she was heard to moan by Castro. A hose was not "required" to clean the blood from the trailer and it is the height of speculation to conclude that the severe blood loss took place in the trailer and not in the clearing. The purpose for the hosing was to eliminate footprints and even the ground where the victims had lain was washed down (R 1205). The trailer was not the only targeted hosing area. Castro never stated that there was a lot of blood in the kitchen, only that it spread as the water hit it. He did not even observe the blood prior to the

⁷ It is also possible Castro was time specific in his deposition statement and was referring to his not having witnessed the assault upon Cecilia prior to when she was removed from the trailer as he answered "the only one I heard him hit was the old man, see, because the lady was already back there." (R 155).

hosing (R 91). Considering the fact Colina told Castro in the clearing that he had to "knock them out again" (R 1244) it is extremely likely that, at the least, moaning or some other more forceful indicia of a reawakening was occurring for Colina to again beat them.

The relevance of the fact that a tire iron was chosen as a weapon has been discussed above at length and will not be reargued as to the murder of Angel.

Castro's testimony that Angel was attacked with a tire iron by Colina, while attempting to rise, after being struck by Castro is borne out by the evidence. Castro admitted hitting Angel in the back of the head (R 1189). When the old man started getting up again Colina hit him with the tire iron (R 1192). In deposition Castro stated that he knew Angel was alive because he heard him grumbling, trying to get up (R 90). Castro grabbed Angel's legs and Colina grabbed his hands to carry him to the back. Castro dropped him and that is when Angel started waking up (R 90). He slipped because he was kicking or struggling as he was being carried back. He opened his eyes (R 94). Castro heard someone beating on Angel. Then they picked him up again and carried him to the back (R 94). At this point in time, according to Castro's trial testimony, one of them started getting up and Colina said he had to knock them out again (R 1199). Colina kept hitting them. He hit them two or three times in front of Castro (R 1203). The blows split Angel's head open (R 1202). Colina started tying Angel's hands (R 1202). As Castro left to watch for cars he could hear Colina swinging the tire iron again (R

- 24 -

1203). Even Dr. McConaghie observed that "more than one blow by more than one object could have been leveled upon the male victim Dr. Maples noted that there was a large fracture (R 977). curving across the back of the skull (R 983). A tree limb would not have caused beveling in the center of the back of the cranial A tire iron would have caused enough penetration to vault. produce a beveled surface (R 986). He also opined that the hemispherical fracture around the head was unlikely to have been Castro's blow to the back of caused by a tree limb (R 990). Angel's head with a tree limb could not have caused the other fractures to the temporal bone, lower jaw and above the right ear (R 983-984). Colina told jail trustee Terry Ivey that he had committed the murders (R 1302) and runabout Russell McClintock that he had "killed two motherfuckers and one more didn't matter" (R 1110). Castro never claimed that Angel "instantly" recovered, in fact, he testified that the old man was knocked out (R 1189).8 Dr. McConaghie testified only that the major fracture to the back of the head "could" have been caused by a fatal blow (R 972). A forensic anthropologist such as Dr. Maples has an advantage over a pathologist because at the time of the autopsy the view of bony injuries is obscured and the anthropologist devotes time to removing overlying material and reconstructs the bone slowly and Dr. Maples, to whom Dr. McConaghie methodically (R 979). deferred, felt that a tree limb would not have caused bevelling in the back of the cranial vault and that there were multiple

 $^{^{\}circ}$ Castro said in his deposition he stayed with the old man for a while as he lay there unconscious and then they pulled him off to the side so no one could see them (R 80).

blows. Castro testified that Angel started getting up. Obviously, one must be conscious to do that and capable of feeling and comprehending.

Unfortunately, Angel Diaz cannot testify as to the pain he endured. No medical expert could say with certainty. Pain is a relative thing. Humans can only imagine each other's suffering. From Castro's testimony we know that Angel came around several times only to be further struck by Colina. From that testimony and further medical opinion it is clear Angel was not simply beaten but bludgeoned to death. One cannot imagine a more appalling or agonizing death, especially for an elderly man.⁹

The fact that the murder of Angel occurred relatively contemporaneous with the murder of Cecilia is a fact that should be considered in determining if this aggravating factor applies. There must be enormous mental anguish when the realization grips the victim that his earthly, frail body has been committed into the hands of a bludgeoner. One spouse need not watch the other die for the anguish to be magnified. It would be far worse to have to wonder, if only momentarily, if your spouse was undergoing the same punishment while you are virtually helpless to do anything about it. After twenty years of marriage to a professor who was kind and gentle (R 1451; 1454) it would be hard to imagine that Angel did not have thoughts of "Sissy" as he struggled to get up or that Cecilia did not wonder about her husband as she tried to defend herself in the trailer. The

⁹ Castro did not want to see Angel's face. It was bloody. When Colina lastly hit him with the tire iron he split his head open (R 1202).

record supports a finding, however, that the Diazes were actually treated to the spectacle of each other's demise. Cecilia was not killed in the kitchen (R 1200). After they were brought to the clearing, Colina had to knock them out again (R 1199). As Castro walked away he could still hear Colina swinging the tire iron (R 1203). The judge acknowledged in her order that the tying of the wrists and feet occurred after death and the mere mention that they bled to death and were found partially nude as part of the factual scenario does not serve to taint the proper finding of the HAC factor.

There is no record support for appellant's assertion that the assaults were unexpected and the Diazes lost consciousness and died quickly without a struggle, and Castro's testimony directly contradicts this scenario. As previously discussed, the Diazes had to be knocked out several times before being bludgeoned to death. Thus, multiple blows did not occur after death. Medical odds are that Cecilia's right forehand was injured in the fracas. The Diazes were certainly the subjects of prolonged pain, torture and mental anguish.

In his botched attempt to relieve this elderly couple of \$3,000.00, Colina exhibited an extreme and outrageous depravity that set the murders apart from the norm of capital felonies, and displayed an utter indifference to their suffering. See, Santos v. State, 591 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1991). Their lives were not even valued at \$1,500.00 apiece. Colina was willing to bludgeon them on the off chance that the truth of mere gossip he had heard would be substantiated by the finding of \$3,000.00. It was a

Thus, he valued their lives at nothing at all. gamble. No suffering was too great for them to endure to secure Colina a shot at some cold cash. This aggravating factor has been deemed to apply to bludgeoning murders and murders where the victim has See, Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. been savagely beaten. 1984) (victim bludgeoned with a claw hammer); Penn v. State, 574 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1991) (victim beaten with a hammer); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991) (victim beaten savagely on the head with a blunt instrument); Bruno v. State, 574 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1991) (victim savagely beaten on the head and shoulders with a crow bar more than ten times); Marshall v. State, 17 F.L.W. 459, 461 (Fla. July 16, 1992) (victim was attacked twice and at least partially conscious during the second attack and was struck six times on the back of the head; Owen v. State, 396 So.2d 985, 990 (Fla. 1992) (sleeping victim was struck on the head and face with five hammer blows and she awoke screaming and struggling after This case certainly fits in that category. the first blow). There is clear evidence the injuries were sustained while both victims were alive. See, Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1991). The suspected wound to Cecilia's right forearm supports the fact that she mounted a defense, as Colina, himself, acknowledged, and further supports the finding of this factor.

Under the facts of both these cases, there is no reasonable possibility the trial court would have concluded that the remaining valid aggravating factors were outweighed by the mitigating evidence. *See, State v. DiGuilio,* 491 So.2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). Thus, the trial court would have imposed the same sentence as to both murders even without the findings that the murders were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel and any possible erroneous finding of this factor was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See, Gore v. State,* 17 F.L.W. 247, 250 (Fla. April 16, 1992).

IV. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO SUBMIT VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE.

Prior to resentencing the defense filed a motion in limine to preclude the state from introducing evidence of nonstatutory aggravating circumstances, specifically victim impact evidence relating to the victim's friends or family (R 202). The motion hearing minutes of January 27, 1992, indicate that this December 3, 1991 motion in limine was granted (R 373). No testimony was elicited before the jury (R 1450). After the jury was removed the state was allowed only to "submit" victim impact evidence to the court alone (R 1450). Section 921.143(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1992), requires the sentencing court to permit the victim of the crime for which the defendant is being sentenced, or the next of kin of the victim if the victim has died from causes related to the crime, to appear before the sentencing court for the purpose of making a statement under oath for the record or submitting a written statement. This does not mean that such statement must be considered in imposing sentence. In this case it was not. After the victims appeared Judge Graziano addressed them as follows:

> You need to also understand that I am bound by the laws of the State as to what I consider when the matter comes up for purposes of sentencing. And even though you have a right to be heard, and the next of kin should be heard, it is not one of those matters that I can consider and deal with in what I -- when I impose a proper sentence.

(R 1459).

In accordance with her statement, the findings of fact in support of the death penalty do not reveal any consideration at all of the victim's statements or the presence of nonstatutory aggravating factors. Such undertaking has always been viewed as harmless by this court. See, Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988).

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